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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
DALLAS DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
Plaintiff,

V.
Case No. 3:13-CV-3336
TWENTY-FOUR THOUSAND ONE
HUNDRED DOLLARS ($24,100.00) IN
UNITED STATES CURRENCY,
Defendant Property /n Rem.

O LOn WO O WO WO WO WO WOn

COMPLAINT FOR FORFEITURE

Plaintiff United States of America (“the government”) files this complaint in rem
against the defendant property, alleging the following pursuant to Rule G(2) of the
Supplemental Rules for Admiralty or Maritime Claims and Asset Forfeiture Actions
(Federal Rules of Civil Procedure):

NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. The government seeks to forfeit the defendant property to the United States
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C) and Rule G of the Supplemental Rules for
Admiralty or Maritime Claims and Asset Forfeiture Actions (Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure).

THE DEFENDANT PROPERTY AND ITS LOCATION

2. The defendant property is $24,100.00 in U.S. currency (“the property”).
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3. The Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms, and Explosives seized $4,100.00 of
the defendant property from Luis Pifia Romano on or about May 5, 2013 in the N 01.*the1ﬁ
District of Texas and the remaining $20,000.00 of the defendant property from Luis
Romarllo on or about May 6, 2013 in the Southern District of Texas.

4. The defendant property is currently in the custody and management of the United
States Marshals Service.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

5. The court has subject matter jurisdiction of this cause of action by virtue of 28
U.S.C. §§ 1345 and 1355(a), since this is a forfeiture action commenced by the United
States of America. |

6. The court has in rem jurisdiction over the defendant property pursuant to 28
U.S.C. § 1355(b).

7. Venue is proper in the Northern District of Texas under 28 U.S.C. § 1355(b)(1)
and 28 U.S.C. § 1395, because acts or omissions giving rise to the forfeiture occurred in
the Northern District of Texas.

POTENTIAL CLAIMANT TO DEFENDANT PROPERTY

8. The only potential claimant to the property known to the government is Luis Pifia

Romano, who can be personally served at 14201 Tamarisk Street, Corpus Christi, Texas.
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BASIS FOR FORFEITURE

Relevant Statutes

9. A federal firearms license enables an individual to lawfully engage in a business
pertaining to the interstate and intrastate sale of firearms.

10.  Itis unlawful, under federal law, for any person except a licensed importer,
licensed manufacturer, or licensed dealer to engage in the business of dealing in firearms.
18 U.S.C. § 922(a)(1)(A) criminalizes such activity.

11.  Ttis unlawful, under federal law, for a person, with the intent to engage in conduct
constituting a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 922(a)(1)(A), to travel from any foreign country
into a state and acquire, or attempt to acquire, a firearm in that state in furtherance of
engaging in the business of dealing in firearms. 18 U.S.C. § 924(n) criminalizes such
activity.

12.  Itis unlawful, under federal law, for two or more persons to conspire to commit
any offense against the United States. 18 U.S.C. § 371 criminalizes such activity.

Relevant Criminal Activity

13.  Luis Pifia Romano (“Romano”) does not possess a federal firearms license and has
never possessed such a licen.se.

14.  Starting in 2009 and continuing through 2013, Romano frequented gun shows
Dallas, Texas; Fort Worth, Texas; Houston, Texas; and San Antonio, Texas and regularly
purchased firearms at these gun shows. Romano only purchased firearms at the gun

shows from individuals that were not federally licensed firearms dealers.
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15.  On Saturday, May 4, 2013, Romano traveled from Corpus Christi to Fort Worth,
Texas to attend and buy firearms at the Original Fort Worth Gun Show (“OFWGS”) held
at Will Rogers Center, 3401 West Lancaster Ave., Fort Worth, Texas.

16.  Romano attended the OFWGS on Saturday, May 4, 2013 and on Sunday, May 5,
2013.

17.  While at the gun show, Romano spent about $10,000.00, buying sixteen fircarms
and .50 caliber and .223 caliber ammunition.

18.  Romano intended to sell seven of the rifles he purchased at the OFWGS to a
particular individual in San Antonio for $1,200.00 each, anticipating making a profit of
$500.00 per rifle. Romano had previously sold at least thirty firearms bought at gun
shows to this person, believing the firearms were being transported into Mexico based on
the particular type of firearm and the ongoing violence in Mexico. Romano sold firearms
to the individual at least four times.

19.  Additionally, Romano had previously sold at least thirty other firearms bought at
gun shows to a second individual, believing the firearms were being transported into
Mexico on the particular type of firearm and the ongoing violence in Mexico. Romano
sold firearms to the individual at least eleven times.

20. In 2013, Romano had begun buying as many assault rifles (like AR-15s and AK-
47s) as he could because he knew that he was going to have to stop buying firearms at
gun shows because people were catching on to him purchasing so many firearms from

non-dealers.
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21. In 2012 and 2013, Romano netted at least $35,000.00 from buying firearms at gun
shows and then selling them. Romano brought $15,000.00 in cash to the OFWGS in May
2013, leaving $20,000.00 in cash in Corpus Christi.

22.  On May 5, 2013, agents of the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms, and
Explosives (“ATF”) seized the firearms and ammunition Romano had bought at the
OFWGS, as well as $4,100.00 in cash Romano had with him at the OFWGS.

23.  ATF agents seized another $20,000.00 in cash and fifteen firearms from Romano
in Corpus Christi on May 6, 2013.

24.  Four pistols bought by Romano from 2001 through 2005 have been recovered in
Mexico.

25. Romano bought at least two firearms in a single transaction more than twenty
times from 2001 to 2009.

26.  Federal law provides that money earned from a violation of, or conspiracy to
violate, 18 U.S.C. § 924(n) is subject to forfeiture.

27. Based on the foregoing, the $24,100.00 in United States currency seized from
Romano is subject to forfeiture pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C) and 18 U.S.C. §
1956(c)(7)(D) as proceeds from a violation of, or conspiracy to violate, 18 U.S.C. §
924(n).

RELIEF SOUGHT

28.  Therefore, the government requests the following:
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a. the District Clerk issue a warrant for the arrest of the defendant property pursuant
to Rule G(3)(b)(i) of the Supplemental Rules for Admiralty or Maritime Claims
and Asset Forfeiture Actions;

b. the ATF arrest the defendant property pursuant to the warrant, as provided by Rule
G(3)(c) of the Supplemental Rules for Admiralty or Maritime Claims and Asset
Forfeiture Actions;

c. the government publish notice of the complaint for forfeiture on the website
www.forfeiture.gov for at least 30 consecutive days, in accordance with Rule
G(4)(a)(iv)(c) of the Supplemental Rules for Admiralty or Maritime Claims and
Asset Forfeiture Actions;

d. the ATF serve notice, pursuant to Rule G(4)(b) of the Supplemental Rules for
Admiralty or Maritime Claims and Asset Forfeiture Actions, on any person
reasonably appearing to be a known potential claimant, advising the person of the
date of notice; of the deadline for filing a claim; that an answer or motion under
Rule 12(b) must be filed no later than 21 days after the filing of the claim; and of
the name of the government's attorney to be served with the claim and answer;

e. the court, after all proceedings are had on this complaint for forfeiture, declare the
defendant property forfeited to the government according to law;

f. the court appropriately tax all costs and expenses incurred by the government in
obtaining the forfeiture of the defendant property against any persons or entities

who filed a verified claim and answer herein; and
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g. the court grant the government any further relief, at law or in equity, to which it

may show itself justly entitled.

Respectfully submitted,

SARAH R. SALDANA
United States Attorney

/s/ JOHN J. DE LA GARZA 111
Assistant United States Attorney
Texas State Bar Number 00796455
1100 Commerce St., Third Floor
Dallas, Texas 75242

Telephone: (214) 659-8682
Facsimile: (214) 659-8803
John.delagarza@usdoj.gov

Complaint for Forfeiture - Page 7



Case 3:13-cv-03336-N Document1 Filed 08/22/13 Page 8 of 8 PagelD 8

VERIFICATION OF COMPLAINT

I, Guillermo Gallegos, declare under penalty of perjury that the following 1s true and
correct to the best of my knowledge.

I am a Special Agent with the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms, and Explosives,
and I have been assigned to assist in the forfeiture of the defendant property. Ihave read the
foregoing Complaint for Forfeiture and know its contents. The information contained in the
Complaint for Forfeiture has been furnished from official government sources and, based on
information and belief, the allegations contained in it are true and correct.

Date: August 19 , 2013

GUILLERMZO G% L;LEGOS

SPECIAL AGENT
BUREAU OF ALCOHOL, TOBACCO, FIREARMS, AND

EXPLOSIVES
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